# GRIT AS A PREDICTOR OF ILLNESS-RELATED DISTRESS AND PSYCHOSOCIAL OUTCOMES IN COLLEGE STUDENTS WITH A CHRONIC ILLNESS: A PATH ANALYSIS

By

CHRISTINA SHARKEY

Bachelor of Arts IN PSYCHOLOGY

## GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY

WASHINGTON, DC

2015

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE July, 2017

# GRIT AS A PREDICTOR OF ILLNESS-RELATED DISTRESS AND PSYCHOSOCIAL OUTCOMES IN COLLEGE STUDENTS WITH A CHRONIC ILLNESS: A PATH ANALYSIS

Thesis Approved:

Larry L. Mullins, PhD

Thesis Adviser

John M. Chaney, PhD

R. Matt Alderson, PhD

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my thesis committee for their guidance, constructive suggestions, and continued support. You enabled the thesis process to be an enjoyable intellectual experience, and I am grateful for the opportunity to work with you. I greatly appreciate the time and effort that was dedicated to this research endeavor.

Secondly, thank you Dr. Mullins for your consistent encouragement, thoughtful feedback, and exceptional mentorship. It is clear that you value your role as a mentor, and I am confident that I can succeed as I pursue my education and career in clinical psychology because of your ceaseless efforts to support me throughout my training.

Finally, I would like to thank my labmates, family, and loved ones. To my labmates, thank you for your contributions to this work and for your inspirational minds, which have been a pleasure to work with. To my family and loved ones, thank you for keeping me motivated, positive, and on schedule throughout the entire thesis process. I appreciate your unending love and your reassuring enthusiasm for my educational and professional goals.

## Name: CHRISTINA SHARKEY

## Date of Degree: July, 2017

## Title of Study: GRIT AS A PREDICTOR OF ILLNESS-RELATED DISTRESS AND PSYCHOSOCIAL OUTCOMES IN COLLEGE STUDENTS WITH A CHRONIC ILLNESS: A PATH ANALYSIS

## Major Field: PSYCHOLOGY

Abstract: Objective: Adolescents and young adults (AYAs) with chronic illness are at increased risk for a host of negative psychosocial outcomes, including depression and anxiety. Although studies have shown that illness appraisals (e.g., illness intrusiveness [II], illness uncertainty [IU]) demonstrate consistent associations with such outcomes. fewer studies have examined protective variables. The present study evaluated grit (i.e., perseverance and passion for long-term goals), a novel construct in pediatric psychology, as a protective factor against the untoward effects of illness intrusiveness and uncertainty on psychosocial outcomes in AYAs with chronic illness. Methods: College students with a chronic illness (N=119) completed questionnaires online, including measures of grit, II, IU, depression, anxiety, and emotional well-being (EWB). Results: The overall path analysis demonstrated that increased grit is directly related to decreased depressive/anxious symptoms and increased EWB. Further, analyses indicated that the positive impact of grit on psychosocial outcomes is mediated by illness appraisals (II, IU). Conclusions: This study identified grit as a source of resilience among AYAs with chronic illness. The study expands on the integration of positive psychology and pediatric psychology, by introducing a novel construct to the AYA chronic illness literature, and justifies the need for greater research on the protective role of grit in chronic illness populations.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Background	1
Theoretical Model	1 2
Grit	3
College Students With Chronic Illness	у Д
Study Aims	5
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	
The History of Positive Psychology	7
Positive Health: Applying Positive Psychology Concepts to H	Iealth Populations.10
The Positive Psychology Construct of Grit	
Grit and Academic Success	14
Grit and Professional and Personal Success	14
Grit and Well-Being	
Mediators of Grit	
Illness Uncertainty	
Illness Intrusiveness	
Adjustment to Chronic Illness Among College Students	
Summary	21
III. METHODOLOGY	
Participants and Procedures	
Measures	
Overview of Analyses	

Chapter	Page
IV. RESULTS	27
Descriptive Statistics	27
Aims 1 and 2	27
Aim 3	
Model Specification	28
Path Analysis	29
V. DISCUSSION	32
Study Review	32
Clinical Implications	32
Limitations	
Conclusion	34
REFERENCES	35
APPENDIX A. TABLES	51
APPENDIX B. FIGURES	55

# LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
<ol> <li>Demographic Characteristics</li> <li>Measure Average Total Scores and Standard Deviations</li> </ol>	51
<ol> <li>Bivariate Correlations</li> </ol>	
4. Structural Equation Model Path Estimates	54

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1. Theoretical Model	55
2. Path Analysis Model	56

## CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

The field of positive psychology provides a framework for understanding human flourishing that goes beyond the reduction of psychological distress and instead seeks to understand the positive attributes that contribute to optimal functioning. This area of investigation is defined by the study of positive experiences and individual traits, and the mechanisms that facilitate their development (Duckworth, Steen, & Seligman, 2005). Positive psychology aims to evaluate the factors that lead to human flourishing and relies on the assumption that human beings not only desire a life devoid of negative experiences, thoughts, and emotions, but also seek a life filled with purpose, success, and positivity.

Parallel to positive psychology is the field of *positive health*. Positive health is a subdiscipline of inquiry proposed by Seligman (2008) that focuses on biological, subjective, and functional measures of health that emphasize and integrate well-being across the realms of physical, physiological, and psychological functioning. Positive health seeks to determine relationships between mental and physical health in order to identify factors of resiliency, as well as factors that stimulate thriving. To a large extent, this body of literature is focused on the active promotion of healthy behaviors, such as increasing exercise and improving nutrition (Cohen & Pressman, 2006; Diener & Chan, 2011; Howell, Kern, & Lyubomirsky, 2007; Rasmussen, Scheier, & Greenhouse, 2009).

Positive health research has also been directed toward enhancing the lives of those with a chronic illness. In the past decade, there has been a substantial increase in studies examining how

the experience of living with a chronic illness can be altered to improve the psychological functioning of patients. This is of particular concern within populations where physiological functioning may not be completely within a patient's control, such as among individuals with cancer (Moola, Faulkner, White, & Kirsh, 2014; Sansom-Daly, Peate, Wakefield, Bryant, & Cohn, 2012; Willard, Long, & Phipps, 2016). Thus, the field of positive health merges the positive psychology ideology of promoting psychological strength and flourishing, with the overall goal of integrating both psychology and medicine to treat and cure human afflictions.

#### **Theoretical Model**

Aspinwall and Pengchit (2013) put forth a succinct model for evaluating how positive psychology constructs may impact health outcomes within the positive health framework. Namely, they propose that the effect of positive phenomena (i.e., concepts based on positive psychology principles) on health is mediated by five pathways, including biological functioning, cognitive appraisals and emotions, coping styles, social development, and health behaviors (See Figure 1). It follows that this model could be applied to predict both physical and psychological well-being within the context of chronic health conditions. Indeed, pediatric and health psychologists have already initiated investigations in this realm by connecting variables such as hope and mindfulness with positive outcomes (Grossman, Niemann, Schmidt, & Walach, 2004; Hullmann, Fedele, Molzon, Mayes, & Mullins, 2014). For instance, predating Seligman's (2008) proposal, health psychologists were already assessing optimism and posttraumatic growth in illness populations, including women with breast cancer and parents of children with cancer (see Aspinwall & Tedeschi, 2010). The literature demonstrates that such positive psychological traits can reliably improve both physical and psychological outcomes (Allison, Guichard, Fung, & Gilain, 2003; Berg, Rapoff, Snyder, & Belmont, 2007; Carver & Antoni, 2004; Mannix, Feldman, & Moody, 2009). However, the extant literature exploring the various pathways proposed by Aspinwall and Pengchit (2013) is very limited. Therefore, further investigation is paramount to fully understand the mechanisms by which positive outcomes are realized.

Grit

Although the field of positive psychology has witnessed rapid growth, the construct of grit is a potentially overlooked construct which has not been explored within the chronic illness context. Grit is an intrapersonal characteristic defined by "passion and perseverance for long-term goals" (Duckworth, Peterson, Matthews, & Kelly, 2007, p. 1087). It has been shown to be predictive of success in academic endeavors, workplace retention, and personal pursuits (Eskreis-Winkler, Shulman, Beal, & Duckworth, 2014). Grit is also positively related to psychological well-being and protects against distressing symptomology, such as suicidal ideation (Pennings, Law, Green, & Anestis, 2015; Vainio & Daukantaitė, 2015). To date, the only studies within the realm of positive health that have examined the relationship between grit and health outcomes linked grit with greater health-related quality of life (Sharkey et al., 2017), lower Body Mass Index (Thomas, Seiden, Koffarnus, Bickel, & Wing, 2015), and improved rates of exercise behavior in generally healthy populations (Reed, Pritschet, & Cutton, 2013). Thus, there is a need to further explore the potential protective role of grit among those individuals with a chronic illness.

It is clear that the daily management of a chronic illness requires a certain level of perseverance, as many reports show high rates of non-adherence and difficulties following through with medical regimens across a variety of pediatric conditions, and ostensibly a certain level of grit (Drotar, 2000; Lemanek, Kamps, & Chung, 2001; Rapoff, 1999). However, grit encompasses much more than a simple drive to transcend obstacles. The concept contains a necessary component of what has been referred to as passion, or a staunch interest in succeeding, regardless of the goal at hand (Duckworth, Peterson, Matthews, & Kelly, 2007). In the context of chronic illness, success could be interpreted as the ability to manage a chronic illness and to thrive in the face of a burdensome life-threatening or chronic condition.

#### **College Students with Chronic Illness**

Due to the particular vulnerabilities of young adults with chronic illness, an examination of grit appears particularly important for this population. In addition to the numerous stressors that many encounter during the transition to adulthood, including financial responsibilities, daily tasks, and increased academic loads in college, young adults with chronic illness must also absorb responsibility for their healthcare management (Brougham, Zail, Mendoza, & Miller, 2009; Compas, Wagner, Slavin, & Vannatta, 1986; Dusselier, Dunn, Wang, Shelley II, & Whalen, 2005; Pai & Schwartz, 2011; Tuchman, Slap, & Britto, 2008). These individuals experience elevated psychosocial and health risks, as they face the demands of navigating an adult healthcare system, managing medications, and adhering to treatment regimens (Pai & Schwartz, 2011; Tuchman et al., 2008). In fact, research has shown that college students with chronic illnesses in particular are at risk for a number of deleterious psychological and social effects which are associated with the management of their condition (Barakat & Wodka, 2006; Fedele et al., 2009; Herts, Wallis, & Maslow, 2014). Further, college students with chronic illness are at risk for anxiety and depression, above and beyond their healthy peers, rendering it important to investigate potential protective factors that can promote well-being in this population (Herts et al., 2014; Tuchman et al., 2008; Wodka & Barakat, 2007). Given these challenges, young adults, specifically college students, with chronic illness are the ideal population to investigate the positive health construct of grit in the realm of chronic illness. Therefore, the present study sought to investigate the role of grit as a source of resilience and a protective factor against negative outcomes in a population of young adults with a chronic illness. Furthermore, this study sought to identify potential mediating factors, which could align with Aspinwall and Pengchit's (2013) model, and add to the understanding of how grit relates to adjustment outcomes in this population.

Although the extant literature on predictors of distress or well-being among college students with chronic illness is limited, at least two clear predictors of negative psychological

adjustment have been determined in this population. These constructs include the cognitive appraisal mechanisms of illness uncertainty and illness intrusiveness. Illness uncertainty has been defined as a cognitive experience within the circumstances of illness in which outcomes are unpredictable, and the illness is characterized by ambiguity (Pai et al., 2006). Extensive research has shown consistent associations between illness uncertainty and negative adjustment outcomes, including depression and anxiety within adolescent and young adult chronic illness populations (Carpentier, Mullins, & Van Pelt, 2007; Hoff, Mullins, Chaney, Hartman, & Domek, 2002; Mullins, Chaney, Pace, & Hartman, 1997). Illness intrusiveness, which has also been implicated as a risk factor for young adults with chronic illness, is a cognitive appraisal mechanism that reflects the extent to which illness factors impede the ability to participate in daily valued activities (Devins, 2010; Mullins, Cote, Fuemmeler, Jean, Beatty, & Paul, 2001). Illness intrusiveness is associated with increased depressive and anxious symptoms, as well as reduced health-related quality of life (Carpentier et al., 2007; Mullins, Cote, Fuemmeler, Jean, Beatty, & Paul, 2001). Although these predictors have been identified as targets for psychosocial interventions in order to reduce risk, it is also important to ascertain protective factors, such as grit, that could be targeted to bolster resilience.

#### **Study Aims**

Thus, the current study aimed to fill the gap in understanding grit as it relates to physical and mental health by evaluating grit as a potential resilience factor against depression and anxiety and as a contributor to psychological well-being among young adults with chronic illness. In addition, the current study sought to examine the possible mediating role of illness uncertainty and illness intrusiveness in this relationship. The following aims are the focus of this initial examination of grit in a chronic illness population.

 To assess the association between grit and psychological distress and well-being in young adults with chronic illness. It is predicted that, after controlling for demographic variables, higher grit, indicating greater perseverance, will be associated with lower

depressive and anxious symptoms, and greater (or higher levels of) emotional well-being. Since previous research has shown that grit is related to depression and well-being, it is hypothesized that this relationship will hold true within a population of college students with chronic illnesses (Pennings et al., 2015; Vainio & Daukantaitė, 2015).

- 2) To assess the relationship between grit and cognitive appraisals of illness, including illness intrusiveness and illness uncertainty. It is predicted that higher levels of grit will predict lower levels of both illness intrusiveness and illness uncertainty.
- 3) To evaluate the main and mediating effects of cognitive appraisals on grit and psychological distress and well-being. It is hypothesized that grit will have direct and indirect effects through illness uncertainty and illness intrusiveness on symptoms of depression and anxiety, as well as emotional well-being.

## CHAPTER II

#### **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

#### The History of Positive Psychology

Contemporary positive psychology is defined as "the scientific study of positive experiences and positive individual traits, and the institutions that facilitate their development" (Duckworth, Steen, & Seligman, 2005, p. 630). However, the study of positive phenomena and human flourishing predates this formal definition by nearly a century and is often considered to have originated in America with William James (Taylor, 1996). His theoretical orientation, identified as radical empiricism, contained his argument that the subjective experiences of the individual must be studied in addition to objective measures, if one seeks to examine human thriving (Rathunde, 2001). James questioned why some individuals could function optimally, while others were unable to reach their full potential, which earned him a principal role in the development of a field that seeks to determine and improve those characteristics that allow individuals to flourish.

The actual term "positive psychology" first appeared in Abraham Maslow's book, entitled Motivation and Personality (1954). Maslow reflected on the state of psychological inquiry and concluded that researchers focused nearly exclusively on the negative side of experience, which led to learning a great deal about human suffering, failure, and frailties. However, he also noted that the field was lacking a thorough understanding of the positive aspects of human characteristics and experience, a sentiment later echoed by Martin Seligman (1998) in his presidential address to the American Psychological Association. Along with other preeminent psychologists, such as Carl Rogers, Maslow worked to break from Freud's psychoanalytic view of psychology, which concentrated on treating mental illness, and transition to a field of humanistic psychology (Linley, Joseph, Harrington, & Wood, 2006).

Humanistic psychology is a clear precursor to positive psychology, which focuses on the study of the whole person and emphasizes themes of self-actualization and attaining one's full capacity for optimal functioning (Linley et al., 2006). Rather than centering on disorders or dysfunction, humanistic psychology aimed to understand human achievement, laying the foundation for a field that synthesized the study of both pathology and flourishing, in order to examine how to capitalize on human strengths and improve the lives of all people (Linley et al., 2006).

After introducing positive psychology as the theme of his American Psychological Association (APA) presidency, Martin Seligman, in collaboration with Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi (2014) proposed three pillars of positive psychology as primary concerns for future research endeavors: positive subjective experiences, positive institutions, and positive individual traits. The pillars coincide with James' emphasis on subjective experience (Gable & Haidt, 2005) and Maslow's theory that basic human needs must be supported by thriving communities and environments (Froh, 2004). Although Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi intended to distance themselves from the "unscientific" methods of humanistic psychology and pursue a field of research based on the view that mental health is more than just the absence of illness, the connection between the two psychological perspectives has gradually become more accepted.

Positive psychology research has focused broadly on understanding constructs of wellbeing and thriving, as well as on the development of interventions and treatments based on the principles of positive psychology. For example, Seligman's work on well-being focused on the mechanisms that lead to both objective and subjective well-being (Schueller & Seligman, 2010).

In a sample of more than 13,000 adults, Schueller and Seligman (2010) found that individuals who seek happiness through engagement in enjoyable and engrossing activities or through finding purpose in their life tend to report higher levels of subjective well-being. Additionally, these individuals demonstrate greater objective well-being, as measured by education and occupational achievement. Thus, their study bolstered the understanding of human flourishing by suggesting that the key to well-being is a focus on engagement and meaning in life, which includes a focus on long-term goals and ultimate fulfillment.

In recent decades, positive psychology researchers endeavored to facilitate research into positive human experiences by expanding the available tools and distinguishing newly measured constructs from previously accepted ones. For instance, the PERMA-Profiler was a measure developed as an examination of Seligman's (Seligman, 2011) concept of flourishing, which is based on the five pillars of well-being, namely positive emotion, engagement, relationships, meaning, and accomplishment (Butler & Kern, 2016). Importantly, other researchers aimed to differentiate these new measures from other well-accepted concepts. Scheier and colleagues (1994) demonstrated the discriminant validity of a measure of optimism by showing that optimism is significantly associated with depressive symptoms, even when controlling for the personality trait of neuroticism, as well as other characteristics that were considered to be indistinguishable from optimism.

As the literature expanded and an understanding of the function of positive traits grew, an interest in taking a positive approach to intervention began to emerge. Kabat-Zinn's (2006) Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (MBSR) program is a clear example of how this literature was translated into positive interventions. MBSR focuses on the innate human capacity for mindfulness and aims to improve well-being by increasing the clarity of one's experience and fostering greater awareness of and engagement in moment-to-moment experience. This process coincides with Seligman's (2010) findings of the importance of seeking meaning in life and engagement. Strengths-based Cognitive Behavioral Therapy also embodies an assumption of

positive psychology, that individuals with psychological distress seek not only the reduction of symptoms, but also an increase in positive experiences (Duckworth et al., 2005; Padesky & Mooney, 2012). This model of intervention aims to identify an individual's intrapersonal strengths, which can be utilized to facilitate resiliency by generalizing skills from one aspect of life to coping in other areas (Padesky & Mooney, 2012). Thus, the positive psychology framework enables therapists to capitalize on positive human experiences and traits to employ interventions that extend beyond the treatment of distressing symptoms and begin to cultivate a greater capacity for flourishing.

#### Positive Health: Applying Positive Psychology Concepts to Health Populations

Building on his assertion that the field of psychology as a whole must draw attention to the study of optimal psychological functioning, Seligman (2008) put forth the field of positive health. He suggested that, analogous to positive psychology, positive health should strive to understand the underlying characteristics and mechanisms of optimal human health. The goals of positive health, according to Seligman (2008), were to improve longevity, prognoses, and mental health, and to decrease the cost of healthcare, with an emphasis placed on the identification of positive factors that contribute to these outcomes.

One such construct that has been evaluated in this context is that of optimism. Optimism has been defined as an individual's general expectation for good outcomes (Van Allen et al., 2016). Research has shown that the trait of optimism is one such positive psychology concept that is consistently associated with longevity and lower risk of mortality (Chapman, Roberts, & Duberstein, 2011). Lower rates of optimism have also been linked to greater mortality and disease progression in a variety of populations, including those with cancer and cardiovascular disease (Chapman et al., 2011). Specifically, regardless of engagement in known behavioral risk factors for cardiovascular disease, such as smoking and poor nutrition, optimism is associated with greater cardiovascular health and protection against disease (Boehm & Kubzansky, 2012). Positive psychological well-being, which is characterized by traits such as optimism and positive

affect, or the experience of pleasurable moods and engagement, has also shown stable connections with Seligman's (2008) positive health outcomes. A meta-analytic review of the literature found that positive psychological well-being is associated with reduced mortality in healthy and disease populations alike, and that the findings are consistent across well-controlled studies (Chida & Steptoe, 2008). Another review demonstrated that optimism and positive affect also contribute to short-term outcomes of symptom and pain reduction, and that these effects are typically stronger than the effects of negative affect on physical health (Cohen & Pressman, 2006).

Importantly, longitudinal studies have found a link between the core positive psychology concept of subjective well-being and longevity in a large sample of healthy individuals, whereas negative emotions had no significant effects on mortality (Diener & Chan, 2011; Xu & Roberts, 2010). Other longitudinal investigations have also linked positive emotions to reduced mortality or slower disease progression in populations with chronic illness, such as diabetes and HIV (Ickovics et al., 2006; Moskowitz, Epel, & Acree, 2008). Similar findings have been reported in pediatric chronic illness populations as well, with factors such as hope and optimism predicting treatment adherence and positive psychological adjustment in asthma, cancer and sickle cell disease (Berg, Rapoff, Snyder, & Belmont, 2007; Mannix, Feldman, & Moody, 2009; Pence, Valrie, Gil, Redding-Lallinger, & Daeschner, 2007).

It follows that the second aim of Seligman's positive health proposal (2008) is to translate these positive psychological factors, now known to be associated with positive outcomes, into targets for intervention. Thus, researchers began to apply positive psychology-based intervention techniques to chronic illness populations in order to alleviate adjustment difficulties following a diagnosis or treat medical regimen adherence problems. For instance, mindfulness-based stress reduction programs have been designed to reduce distress in adult patients diagnosed with cancer. Randomized controlled trials of the Mindfulness-Based Cancer Recovery program have demonstrated that breast cancer patients in the program experienced a greater reduction in stress

symptoms than those patients in control conditions (Carlson et al., 2013). Initial studies have also provided support for mindfulness-based stress reduction programs in pediatric populations, such as children with chronic pain (Jastrowski Mano et al., 2013). Additionally, interventions aimed at developing optimism have shown positive effects on emotional well-being and adjustment to a chronic illness (Last, Stam, Onland-van Nieuwenhuizen, & Grootenhuis, 2007; Lee, Robin Cohen, Edgar, Laizner, & Gagnon, 2006).

Although the field of positive health has grown substantially over the last decade, there is still a great deal to be learned. Research on a variety of positive psychology concepts within the context of health remains limited, and the adaptation of positive psychology-based interventions to address adjustment to diagnoses and the specific concerns of those with medical conditions is advancing slowly. Nevertheless, the current evidence for the positive effect of these factors and interventions suggests the need for greater and more expansive investigations into concepts that are prominent in the field of positive psychology, but have yet to be transferred into the study of chronic illness populations.

#### The Positive Psychology Construct of Grit

Grit, defined as perseverance and passion for long-term goals, is one of the positive psychology constructs that has not yet been explored within a chronic illness context (Duckworth, Peterson, Matthews, & Kelly, 2007). It may, however, have an important protective role. The construct of grit was developed and initially tested across several academic and professional populations and was hypothesized to be a crucial personal attribute for success, beyond the influence of intellectual abilities (Duckworth et al., 2007). Duckworth and colleagues (2007) describe the gritty individual as someone who resolutely strives to accomplish goals and remains dedicated over the course of years, regardless of the challenges that are encountered. Grit Scale Development

Duckworth and colleagues (Duckworth, Peterson, Matthews, & Kelly, 2007) sought to develop and validate a questionnaire that adequately assessed the construct of grit, while also

distinguishing it from other noncognitive personality traits. Additionally, they aimed to create a scale that was clearly domain general in nature and predictive of success across multiple goals. They conducted a series of studies with adults to assess the internal reliability and factor loadings of 27 possible items assessing grit. This resulted in a validated 12-item grit measure with two subscales termed "perseverance of effort" and "consistency of interest" (Duckworth et al., 2007). The predictive validity of the measure was then tested in relation to educational attainment and GPA scores. Results of the validation studies aligned with the hypothesized association and suggested that those with higher grit scores had both higher educational attainment and higher GPA scores (Duckworth et al., 2007). The research also demonstrated that grit was related to, but provided incremental predictive value above, the Big Five personality trait of conscientiousness, as well as SAT scores, which were used as a proxy-measure of intelligence (Duckworth et al., 2007).

Subsequently, the authors revisited the original grit scale in the hope of identifying a shorter and more psychometrically rigorous measure. Duckworth and colleagues (2009) identified the subset of items with the highest predictive validity, which still maintained the two-factor structure, and created a new eight-item short grit scale that retained adequate internal consistency. The researchers repeated the methods of their initial validation studies and found that the short grit scale was a more efficient measure of grit that maintained predictive validity of academic and professional success, and continued to be distinguishable from related personality traits, such as conscientiousness. They also determined that grit appeared to be a relatively stable trait over time (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009). In this series of studies, an informant version of the short grit scale was also validated, indicating that friends and family could reliably assess an individual's grit score (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009). Thus, a validated brief measure of grit was developed, which includes both a perseverance of effort and a consistency of interest subscale, and has sparked further research into the nature of grit and how grit levels relate to success in different disciplines (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009).

#### **Grit and Academic Success**

Research has demonstrated associations between grit and positive academic outcomes in a variety of populations. One study found that grit, specifically the perseverance of effort subscale, was predictive of first year college GPA, even when SAT scores were included in the model (Chang, 2014). Other studies have indicated that higher grit is associated with higher GPA in non-traditional doctoral students, and at elite universities (Cross, 2014; Duckworth et al., 2007). The effect of grit has also been evaluated among diverse samples. For instance, an examination of the impact of grit on the academic success of black male students at a predominantly white university found that grit added incremental predictive validity in grades achievement, above standard predictors of academic success (Strayhorn, 2014). Grit has also been tested in relation to attainment of specific academic goals, and has been found to be reliably predictive of final rank in the national spelling bee, with grittier students going further in the competition (Duckworth et al., 2007).

#### **Grit and Professional and Personal Success**

Not only is grit related to the success of students, but it is also linked with the retention and effectiveness of their teachers. In an initial study by Robertson-Kraft and colleagues (2014), grit was evaluated among elementary, middle, and high school novice teachers in low-income communities. A number of teacher characteristics, such as college GPA and leadership ratings, along with estimated grit scores were examined. They found that grit was the only variable that could reliably predict which teachers stayed in the classroom and did not quit, as well as which teachers would be the most effective, based on student achievement scores (Robertson-Kraft & Duckworth, 2014). Another study found that grit contributed significantly to military performance among West Point cadets, and only grit predicted retention across the 4-year period of college at West Point (Kelly, Matthews, & Bartone, 2014). This study also distinguished grit from hardiness, a construct similarly related to resilience and performance in stressful situations. Both grit and hardiness separately contributed to the variance in commitment to the cadet basic training, and only grit significantly predicted the long-term persistence across all 4 years of military training (Bartone, 2007; Kelly et al., 2014).

A foundational study in the grit literature aimed to demonstrate widespread connection between grit and retention by assessing the influence of grit across four different populations (Eskreis-Winkler, Shulman, Beal, & Duckworth, 2014). Using both longitudinal and crosssectional designs, the studies tested the predictive validity of grit and associations between grit and retention among soldiers, sales representatives, high school students, and married couples. Across all four studies, the researchers found that individuals who reported higher grit were more likely to stick to their commitment (i.e., completion of an army selection course, retention of a company's sales personnel, graduation from high school, and continuation of marriage) than their lower grit counterparts (Eskreis-Winkler et al., 2014). The authors described grit as a facet of conscientiousness, a broader grouping of similar traits, but reliably demonstrated that grit predicted variance in successful outcomes above and beyond conscientiousness. Thus, this study provided an extensive basis for the understanding of how grit relates to personal and professional perseverance across diverse samples of individuals.

#### **Grit and Well-Being**

The use of grit as a measure of success has expanded over time to include investigations of grit as a predictor of a variety of other outcomes, such as emotional well-being. In a study of undergraduate students, affect and grit were tested as predictors of happiness and life satisfaction (Singh & Jha, 2008). Stepwise regression analyses suggested that grit accounted for a significant amount of the variance in both life satisfaction and happiness, even when accounting for both positive and negative affect (Singh & Jha, 2008). Another study investigated the relationship between grit and well-being in samples of students and non-students (Vainio & Daukantaitė, 2015). In this investigation of nearly 600 university-aged individuals, researchers found grit to be positively related to psychological well-being, satisfaction with life, and harmony in life. The researchers also identified two significant mediators of these relationships, namely sense of

coherence and authenticity (Vainio & Daukantaitė, 2015). Although these specific mediators are beyond the scope of this review, this study importantly suggests that there may be other untapped mechanisms through which grit influences well-being.

The relationship between grit and well-being has also been explored within diverse contexts. A study in a non-Western culture demonstrated slightly different results, with a lack of correlation between the two factors of grit in their sample of Filipino high school students (Datu, Valdez, & King, 2016). Although this difference does have important, yet unexplored implications for the understanding of grit across cultures, the results still suggested that the perseverance of effort subscale was associated with flourishing and positive engagement in a unique context (Datu et al., 2016). The role of grit among general surgery residents has also been tested, in context of the frequent report of burnout, or extreme occupational distress, among this special population (Salles et al., 2014). The authors concluded that higher grit was predictive of greater psychological well-being and less burnout at a later point, indicating that the grit scale could be a useful tool for screening for those who may be at risk due to low grittiness (Salles et al., 2014). Although the literature is still in the early stages, these studies collectively provide growing evidence for a relationship between grit and psychological well-being.

Importantly, the research relating grit to physical well-being is nearly nonexistent. The only known studies of grit within the context of health and physical well-being suggests that grit is a positive predictor of moderate and high intensity exercise, whereas conscientiousness did not show significant predictive validity, and that grit relates to lower Body Mass Index (Reed, Pritschet, & Cutton, 2013; Thomas, Seiden, Koffarnus, Bckel, & Wing, 2015). This single study leaves a large gap in the understanding of how grit could possibly relate to success with the context of health and illness.

#### **Mediators of Grit**

As more is uncovered about grit's association with positive outcomes, particularly in relation to academic and professional success, research has turned toward an exploration of the

mechanisms through which grit affects outcomes, as well as ways to promote the development of grit in individuals. To date, no effective intervention to develop or promote grit has been tested, but there is some understanding of behaviors and attitudes that may be important mediators between grit and positive outcomes. As previously mentioned, one study found perspectives of sense of coherence and authenticity to significantly mediate the relationship between grit and psychological well-being (Vainio & Daukantaitė, 2015). "Deliberate practice", or engagement with activities that are inherently more effortful and less enjoyable, has also been found to mediate the relationship between grit and success (Duckworth, Kirby, Tsukayama, Berstein, & Ericsson, 2011). This finding suggests that those who are gritty may achieve success because they possess the ability to commit to behaviors that are more effective for reaching their long-term goals, but are less rewarding in the short-term. Research on mediators between grit and psychological outcomes is lacking, however one study found that grit, along with gratitude, acted as a protective factor for suicidal ideation through its positive effect on finding meaning in life (Kleiman, Adams, Kashdan, & Riskind, 2013).

Although much is still unknown about how grit relates to positive outcomes, especially outcomes of physical and mental well-being, a theoretical model proposed by Aspinwall and Pengchit (2013) is a useful framework for organizing investigations of possible mediators. The model suggests that positive phenomena, or constructs within the positive psychology field, such as grit, influence outcomes of well-being through five pathways, including biological functioning, cognitive appraisals and emotions, coping styles, social development, and health behaviors. Examination of potential mediators that align with these categories would be valuable, as they may explain an important link between grit and success within the domain of health and well-being.

#### Illness Uncertainty and Illness Intrusiveness as Mediators Between Grit and Well-Being

Illness uncertainty and illness intrusiveness are two well-known risk factors for psychological distress that have come to the forefront of the literature on chronic illnesses,

particularly in research on adolescents and young adults. Both predictors correspond to the "cognitive appraisals and emotions" pathway of the Aspinwall and Pengchit (2013) model. Although precipitants of these predictors, including grit, are not yet well understood, the relationship between illness uncertainty, illness intrusiveness and adjustment to chronic illness has been extensively studied and the results across medical conditions are robust. Each of these constructs will be discussed briefly below.

#### **Illness Uncertainty**

Illness uncertainty has been defined in a variety of ways, but is best understood as a complex cognitive experience that occurs when an individual cannot determine the meaning of an illness-related event (Mishel, 1988). It includes emotions experienced when there is ambiguity within the context of an illness, including situations in which symptoms or outcomes are unpredictable, there is a lack of information regarding the condition or the treatment, or the meaning of the illness and the possible outcomes are unclear (Pai et al., 2006; Steele, Aylward, Jensen, & Wu, 2009).

This cognitive appraisal has been shown to be associated with negative adjustment outcomes, such as depressive and anxious symptoms, across a wide range of populations. Research has demonstrated links between global psychological distress and illness uncertainty in adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes and adolescents with cancer (Hoff, Mullins, Chaney, Hartman, & Domek, 2002; Neville, 1998). Parents or caregivers of children with cancer appear to also experience illness uncertainty, which negatively contributes to the parent's own traumatic experience of their child's illness (Tackett et al., 2016). Studies have also found strong relationships between illness uncertainty and negative adjustment in adult populations, such as individuals with multiple sclerosis (Mullins, Cote, Fuemmeler, Jean, Beatty, & Paul, 2001). Further, it is posited that illness uncertainty is a particularly important predictor of anxious and depressive symptomology among college students, such as those with asthma and allergies. This may be in part due to the significant changes in a student's daily routine as they transition to

college and the possibility for increased uncertainty as they become primarily responsible for managing their health during this time (Carpentier, Mullins, & Van Pelt, 2007; Mullins, Chaney, Balderson, & Hommel, 2000; Mullins, Chaney, Pace, & Hartman, 1997).

#### **Illness Intrusiveness**

A second cognitive appraisal, illness intrusiveness, is defined as the extent to which one's illness interferes with the ability to engage in valued life activities (e.g., Devins, 2010; Mullins, Cote, Fuemmeler, Jean, Beatty, & Paul, 2001). This predictor is characterized by an individual's perception of how noticeably their condition affects their involvement in every-day life and has evidenced strong relationships with adjustment outcomes across populations. Additionally, certain aspects of one's illness have been shown to consistently contribute to illness intrusiveness, including illness severity and intensity of treatment, while factors such as psychosocial intervention and medical management contribute to reductions in illness intrusiveness (Gerald M. Devins, 2010).

Similar to illness uncertainty, higher perceived illness intrusiveness relates to increased psychological distress among adults with a variety of health conditions, including multiple sclerosis, and college students with asthma (Mullins, Cote, Fuemmeler, Jean, Beatty, & Paul, 2001; Mullins et al., 2007). Importantly, having a chronic illness that impedes on daily functioning or requires assistance from others during the adolescent and young adult years can be particularly distressing, due to the disruption in self-sufficiency during this transitionary period (i.e., transition to adulthood, transition to college), in which autonomy would typically increase (Devins, 2006; Wagner et al., 2003). Devins and colleagues (1992) suggest that illness intrusiveness is also an important predictor of depressive symptoms among adults with rheumatoid arthritis, but that younger adults appear to be more susceptible to depressive symptoms as a function of the negative cognitive experience. A study of youth with juvenile rheumatic disease found that children who perceive their illness to be more intrusive also experience greater depressive symptoms, especially when their parents are experiencing

psychological distress (Wagner et al., 2003). Other populations negatively impacted by illness intrusiveness include adults diagnosed with irritable bowel syndrome and women diagnosed with breast cancer (Bloom, Stewart, Johnston, & Banks, 1998; Dancey, Hutton-Young, Moye, & Devins, 2002). Thus, the literature consistently shows that the cognitive experience of illness intrusiveness is highly related to reduced well-being across numerous conditions and age groups.

#### **Adjustment to Chronic Illness Among College Students**

As previously mentioned, adolescents and young adults with chronic illnesses are particularly at risk for negative adjustment outcomes as they transition to college. Recent literature has suggested that emerging adults are at a critical developmental period in terms of physical, neurological and social development, as well as establishment of long-term health behaviors (Arnett & Jensen, 2000; Lansing & Berg, 2014; Sawyer et al., 2012). Those individuals who transition to college will experience new academic, financial, and relational demands and strains, which are frequently distressing for all college students (Brougham, Zail, Mendoza, & Miller, 2009; Compas, Wagner, Slavin, & Vannatta, 1986; Dusselier, Dunn, Wang, Shelley, & Whalen, 2005). Additionally, moving away from home to an entirely novel environment can also increase depressive symptomology by elevating feelings of loneliness and decreased social support (Brandy, Penckofer, Solari-Twadell, & Velsor-Friedrich, 2015; Mounts, Valentiner, Anderson, & Boswell, 2006).

College students with chronic illnesses are uniquely challenged, as they must take on additional healthcare responsibilities, which could include tasks such as scheduling appointments, picking up and managing prescriptions, and monitoring their health. Furthermore, these students frequently must learn to navigate a new adult-centered healthcare system, and form new relationships with physicians as they transfer out of pediatric clinics, while simultaneously navigating their new college environment (Tuchman, Slap, & Britto, 2008). During this period, young adults also often experience a reduction in parental involvement in healthcare as they gain medical autonomy, which can have detrimental effects on healthcare management (Casillas,

Kahn, Doose, Landier, & Bhatia, 2010). The combination of these difficulties has been shown to elevate risk for anxious and depressive symptoms, reduced quality of life, and more missed school days for college students with chronic illnesses as compared to healthy peers (Carpentier et al., 2007; Herts, Wallis, & Maslow, 2014; Wodka & Barakat, 2007).

Recent research has evidenced a strong connection between cognitive appraisals, such as illness uncertainty and illness intrusiveness, and the negative adjustment outcomes experienced by college students with chronic illness (Carpentier et al., 2007; Mullins et al., 2000; Mullins et al., 1997). However, less is known about factors that may protect against poor psychological outcomes or that may influence how college-aged individuals experience their chronic illness. Consideration of Aspinwall and Pengchit's (2013) model would suggest that positive phenomena should be tested in this manner as possible resiliency factors. The literature on the positive intrapersonal characteristic of grit suggests that this construct may have a protective effect on well-being through cognitive appraisals. Therefore, an investigation of the influence of grit on depressive and anxious symptomology, as well as emotional well-being, aligns well with this theoretical model. Testing the relationship between grit and adjustment outcomes, mediated by the cognitive appraisals of illness uncertainty and illness intrusiveness, will potentially provide further evidence to support this framework. Due to the known relationships between grit and well-being in undergraduate samples of healthy youth, as well as the relationship between cognitive appraisals and symptomology in young adults with chronic illness, an initial investigation of this relationship among college students with chronic illnesses is warranted. **Summary** 

Positive psychology aims to study optimal human functioning, which provides a valuable framework for investigating human resilience in the face of difficulties (Duckworth et al., 2005). The complementary field of positive health directs the focus toward understanding and developing positive factors that contribute to well-being and resiliency within the context of health behaviors and illness (Seligman, 2008). It has been proposed that positive factors may

influence mental and physical health outcomes through a set of interrelated pathways, including cognitive appraisals (Aspinwall & Pengchit, 2013). The intrapersonal characteristic of grit, defined as perseverance and passion for long-term goals, may be one such positive factor that affects psychological adjustment and emotional health (Duckworth et al., 2007). Although the literature shows that grit is highly predictive of psychological well-being and protects against distress, it has not yet been considered within the positive health context among chronic illness populations (Pennings, Law, Green, & Anestis, 2015; Vainio & Daukantaite, 2015). Consistent with Aspinwall and Pengchit's (2013) model, the cognitive variables of illness uncertainty and illness intrusiveness may play a role in mediating the relationship between grit and adjustment outcomes within chronic illness. Research has shown that both illness uncertainty and illness intrusiveness are risk factors for poor psychological adjustment among individuals with chronic illness, but research on the factors that protect against these appraisals and negative outcomes is limited (Gerald M. Devins, 2010; Hoff et al., 2002; Mullins et al., 1997; Wagner et al., 2003). In particular, there is robust literature suggesting that college students with chronic illness are at a unique risk for negative adjustment outcomes and the negative experiences of uncertainty and intrusiveness (Carpentier et al., 2007; Mullins, Cote, Fuemmeler, Jean, Beatty, & Paul, 2001). Thus, the proposed study aims to evaluate grit as a protective factor against the untoward effects of illness intrusiveness and illness uncertainty on psychological adjustment outcomes among young adults with chronic illness.

## CHAPTER III

#### METHODOLOGY

#### **Participants and Procedures**

One hundred and nineteen college students (Mage = 21.13 years, SD = 5.45) with a selfreported chronic illness were recruited from a large Midwestern university via an online survey system. Students consented to the study and filled out all questionnaires online. All students who completed questionnaires were compensated with course credit, which is a requirement of many undergraduate courses. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board and all procedures adhered to the American Psychological Association's ethical guidelines.

#### Measures

#### Demographic Characteristics

Demographic information, including age, sex, ethnicity, education level, and medical condition was collected. Due to sample sizes and or the purpose of statistical analyses, ethnicity was collapsed into a dichotomized variable (i.e., white and non-white) and education was collapsed into a dichotomized variable (i.e., underclassmen, which refers to freshmen and sophomores, and upperclassmen, which refers to juniors and seniors), as has been done in similar studies (Sharkey et al., 2017).

#### Short Grit Scale

The Short Grit Scale is an 8-item self-report Likert scale questionnaire that measures an individual's ability to persevere and sustain passion for long-term goals (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009). The scale includes items such as "I finish whatever I begin". An average of the items is

calculated to form the grit score, with higher scores indicating higher levels of grittiness. Previous research has indicated the Grit Scale has good reliability and validity (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009). In the present study, internal consistency of the measure was adequate and consistent with the literature ( $\alpha = .77$ ).

#### Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression scale (CES-D)

The CES-D is a 20-item self-report Likert scale measure of depressive symptomology (Radloff, 1977). A sum score of the items is calculated and higher scores on the questionnaire represent a greater degree of depressive symptomology. Previous research has indicated the CES-D has strong reliability and validity (Radloff, 1977; Hann, Winter, & Jacobsen, 1999) The internal consistency of the measure was excellent in the present study, and was consistent with the literature ( $\alpha = .93$ ).

#### Zung Self-Rating Anxiety Scale (SAS)

The SAS is a 20-item self-report Likert scale measure of anxious symptomology (Zung, 1971). The items are summed to create a raw score, which is then converted to an anxiety index for comparison. Higher scores on the questionnaire indicate higher levels of anxiety. Previous research has indicated the SAS has good reliability and validity (Zung, 1971). In the current study, the internal consistency of the measure was good, and was consistent with the literature ( $\alpha = .86$ ).

#### Rand SF-36 Health Survey (SF-36)

The SF-36 is a 36-item self-report Likert scale measure assessing health-related quality of life across eight domains (Hays, Sherbourne, & Mazel, 1993). The emotional well-being subscale (EWB), calculated by a normed scoring method, was utilized in this study as a measure of positive emotional well-being. Previous research has indicated that overall the Rand SF-36 Health Survey has good reliability and validity (Hays, Sherbourne, & Mazel, 1993). In the present study, internal consistency of the subscale was good ( $\alpha = .87$ ).

Illness Intrusiveness Ratings Scale (II)

The Illness Intrusiveness Ratings Scale is a 13-item, self-report instrument, which assesses Illness Intrusiveness, or the appraisal of the degree to which an illness interferes with valued life activities, on a 7-point Likert scale (Devins, 2010). Previous research has indicated the Illness Intrusiveness Ratings Scale has excellent reliability and validity (Devins et al., 2001; Devins, 2010). The measure had excellent internal consistency ( $\alpha = .93$ ) in the current study, which was consistent with the literature.

#### Mishel's Illness Uncertainty Scale (IU)

The Illness Uncertainty Scale is a 23-item self-report Likert scale questionnaire, which assesses Illness Uncertainty, the cognitive experience when the meaning of illness-related events is ambiguous (Mishel, 1981). Previous research has indicated the Illness Uncertainty Scale has strong reliability and validity (Mishel, 1981). In the present study, internal consistency was excellent and consistent with the literature ( $\alpha = .91$ ).

#### **Overview of Analyses**

First, bivariate correlations were conducted to assess the presence of significant relationships between all variables of interest. Next, multiple hierarchical linear regressions were conducted to address aims 1 and 2, which hypothesized that grit would predict outcome measures of psychological distress, and intermediate predictors of illness appraisals. Demographic characteristics (i.e., age, sex, ethnicity, and education level) were entered in the first step of each regression and grit was entered in the second. The primary outcomes of aim 1 were depression, anxiety, and emotional well-being, while the primary outcomes of aim 2 were illness uncertainty and illness intrusiveness.

To examine the interrelationships between the variables of interest, path analysis, a specific type of Structural Equation Modeling which allows multiple hypothesized pathways to be simultaneously estimated in one model, was employed. The path model was tested using Mplus version 7.4 with full information maximum likelihood. Grit was entered as an exogenous variable and illness uncertainty, illness intrusiveness, depression, anxiety, and emotional well-being were

entered as endogenous variables. Demographic characteristics were estimated on all endogenous variables to control for their effects. All direct and indirect effects of grit were estimated in the model (See Figure 2).

## CHAPTER IV

#### RESULTS

## **Descriptive Statistics**

The present sample was primarily Caucasian (79.0%), female (73.1%), and in their freshman year of college (42.0%). Demographic characteristics of the current sample are present in Table 1. The participants reported significant distress, with 62.18% of the sample indicating depressive symptomology above the clinically concerning cut-off for the CES-D, 31.9% of the sample reporting anxious symptomology above the screening cut-off for the SAS, and 66.4% of the sample reporting lower EWB than a normative sample (Hays, Sherbourne, & Mazel, 1993; Lewinsohn, Seeley, Roberts, & Allen, 1997; Zung, 1971). Means and standard deviations of all variables of interest are reported in Table 2.

#### Aims 1 and 2

To preliminarily examine relationships between demographic variables and all variables of interest, bivariate correlations were conducted. Partial correlations, controlling for demographics, were conducted for the relationships between Grit, II, and IU, due to detectable sex differences in reporting. Grit was significantly correlated with all outcomes of interest (i.e., EWB, SAS, CES-D) and both mediators (i.e., II and IU). The correlation matrix can be found in Table 3.

A hierarchical linear regression was conducted to better ascertain the relationship between grit and depressive symptoms (CES-D). Demographics were entered in Step 1 and did not contribute significantly to the variance in CES-D (p > .05). Grit was added in Step 2 and

resulted in an overall significant model, with grit predicting 9.6% of the variance in depressive symptoms among college students with a chronic illness (F(5,112) = 3.92, p <.01). A hierarchical linear regression with anxiety (SAS) as the outcome was conducted. The demographic variables were entered first and did not produce a significant model (p > .05). Grit was entered at Step 2, and the overall model was significant (F(5,112) = 5.00, p < .001), with grit accounting for 11.0% of the variance anxious symptomology. A hierarchical linear regression with EWB (SF-36) as the outcome, was conducted, with demographics entered in Step 1 and grit entered in Step 2. The demographic variables did not account for a significant portion of the variance in EWB (p > .05). Grit significantly predicted 16.1% of the variance in EWB, and the overall model was significant (F(5,113) = 5.30, p < .001. The analyses indicate that when controlling for demographics, grit protects against depression and anxiety and is associated with greater EWB, consistent with the hypothesis of Aim 1.

To evaluate Aim 2, two hierarchical regressions predicting IU and II were conducted, with demographic characteristics entered in Step 1 and grit entered in Step 2. Demographic characteristics did not account for a significant portion of the variance in IU (p > .05). Grit significantly accounted for 3.9% of the variance in IU, and the overall model was significant (F(5,112) = 1.85, p < .05). In a hierarchical regression with II as the outcome, demographic characteristics were entered in Step 1 and accounted for 8.6% of the variance in II (F(4,113) = 2.66, p < .05). Grit was entered second, and significantly accounted for an additional 4.5% of the variance in II (F(5,112) = 3.39, p < .01). Consistent with our hypotheses, these significant models suggest that higher levels of grit relate to lower levels of the cognitive appraisals of IU and II.

Aim 3

## **Model Specification**

Path analysis was used in the current study to estimate a model with 10 manifest variables, and 45 freely estimated parameters identified via a priori hypotheses. 5,000 bias-

corrected bootstrapped samples were utilized to test conditional and indirect effects, based on current recommendations (Fritz & MacKinnon, 2007). Analyses were conducted using MPlus version 7.4 and maximum likelihood estimation (Muthen & Muthen, 2015). Missing data was minimal and handled via listwise deletion. Refer to Figure 2 for a visual representation of the overall model.

#### **Path Analysis**

A fully saturated model was estimated with arbitrarily perfect fit (x2(35) = 448.792, p < .001; CFI = 1.00, TLI = 1.00; SRMR = 0.00; RMSEA = 0.00), due to the a priori hypothesis that the direct effects of grit on the outcomes of interest would remain significant in the presence of the mediating variables, due to the other complementary pathways suggested by Aspinwall and Pengchit (2013), which were not measured in the current study.

While controlling for demographics, grit had a significant direct effect on depressive symptoms (36 = -0.18, SE = 0.06, 95% BC [-30, -0.06]), and on anxiety symptoms (36 = -0.17, SE = 0.06, 95% BC [-0.30, -0.05], such that higher grit was associated with lower self-reported depressive and anxious symptoms. Grit also had a significant direct effect on EWB (36 = .30, SE = .08, 95% BC [0.14, 0.44]), such that higher levels of grit related to higher levels of EWB. While controlling for demographics, grit also had a significant direct effect on II (36 = -.22, SE = .10, 95% BC []), and IU (36 = -0.21, SE = 0.11, 95% BC []), such that higher grit was directly associated with lower II and IU. Path estimates are summarized in Table 4.

Paths mediated by II and IU, between grit and the outcomes of depressive symptoms, anxious symptoms, and EWB were also estimated. Results indicated that grit had an indirect effect on depressive symptoms through IU (366 = -0.08, SE = 0.04, 95% BC [-0.18, -0.02]) and through II (366 = -0.07, SE = 0.03, 95% BC [-0.15, -0.02]). Grit also had an indirect effect on anxiety symptoms through IU (366 = -0.08, SE = 0.05, 95% BC [-0.19, -0.01]) and II (366 = -0.07, SE = 0.04, 95% BC [-0.16, -0.02]). Lastly, results indicated that grit had an indirect effect on EWB through IU (366 = 0.08, SE = 0.04, 95% BC [0.04, 0.17]) and II (366 = 0.04, SE = 0.03, 95% BC [0.03, 0.11]). These results suggest that among college students with chronic illness, the relationship between grit and psychological distress or well-being is partially accounted for by cognitive appraisal mechanisms.

## CHAPTER V

#### DISCUSSION

#### **Study Review**

The current study evaluated the role of a novel construct, grit, as a source of resilience among college students with chronic illness, an underrepresented and uniquely challenged population. This study expands on previously limited literature linking grit and positive health outcomes (Sharkey, 2017; Reed, Pritschet, & Cutton, 2013; Thomas, Seiden, Koffarnus, Bckel, & Wing, 2015). The current findings indicate that grit serves as a protective factor, as increased grit was directly related to both decreased depressive and anxious symptomology. Higher grit was also directly related to increased EWB, suggesting that grit not only protects against negative adjustment outcomes, but also promotes positive outcomes. Importantly, this finding aligns with the primary tenet of positive health, which asserts that well-being, beyond the absence of negative symptoms, is a valued objective (Seligman, 2008).

The overall path analysis demonstrated that the positive impact of grit on psychological outcomes is partially a function of its influence on reducing negative illness appraisals (i.e., IU and II). This study identified grit as a factor that is associated with lower levels of both II and IU, and protects against the untoward effects these appraisals, which have been substantiated by previous studies (Carpentier, Mullins, & Van Pelt, 2007; Hoff, Mullins, Chaney, Hartman, & Domek, 2002; Cote, Fuemmeler, Jean, Beatty, & Paul, 2001; Mullins, Chaney, Pace, & Hartman,

1997). Thus, the findings foster a more nuanced understanding of the relationship between cognitive appraisals and psychological outcomes in college students with chronic illness, and provide support for the cognitive pathway of Aspinwall and Pengchit's (2013) model for the relationship between positive phenomena, such as grit, and health outcomes. The direct effects of grit on depressive/anxious symptomology and EWB, which remained significant in the presence of the mediating variables, also suggest the existence of the other complementary pathways proposed in the theoretical model, and indicate the need for assessment of additional mechanisms that might influence the relationship between grit and mental health outcomes. For instance, future research could evaluate the additive or interactive effect of social support or coping strategies on the existing model, in an effort to better understand how grit operates.

#### **Clinical Implications**

Furthermore, the present study was consistent with the literature, which indicates that adolescents and young adults with a chronic illness are at risk for clinically concerning depressive and anxious symptomology, as well as reduced well-being (Barakat & Wodka, 2006; Fedele et al., 2009; Herts, Wallis, & Maslow, 2014). Approximately one third to two-thirds of the current sample reported symptomology that exceeded screening cut-offs, highlighting the need to identify risk and resilience factors, with the ultimate goal of developing effective interventions to address the needs of this population. Thus, future investigations should translate the evidence supporting the positive role of grit into interventions aimed at fostering perseverance and passion among college students who are struggling to cope with their illness. Indeed, research shows that building positive states alleviates depression, and future research might reveal that building grit can reduce such negative symptomology for young adults with a chronic illness (Seligman, Rashid, & Parks, 2006; Seligman, Steen, Park, & Peterson, 2005). Currently, an empirically supported grit-based intervention does not exist, but it has been theorized that cognitive-behavioral techniques, such as cognitive restructuring to address distorted expectancies for success, or values-based interventions, such as Acceptance and Commitment Therapy, might

cultivate grit by helping individuals to align their actions and thoughts with the valued long-term goal of successfully managing a chronic illness (Sharkey et al., 2017; Eskreis-Winkler, Gross, & Duckworth, 2016). Although the present study focused on psychological distress and well-being as the outcomes of interest, interventions may also aim to improve medical outcomes, such as medication adherence, by targeting grit. Previous research has demonstrated a connection between grit and healthcare management skills among healthy college students, but the influence of grit on medical outcomes must be tested among pediatric illness populations to better facilitate intervention development (Sharkey, 2017).

Alternatively, assessing grit may be more appropriately utilized as a screening process for identifying those at risk for negative outcomes, or even to assist in determining the most advantageous treatment plans. For example, if a college student with a chronic illness presents with depressive symptomology and a high grit score, they may be likely to benefit from cognitive techniques that require a great deal of practice and determination, whereas a more behaviorally-focused treatment might be of larger benefit to a student with lower levels of grit. Certainly, greater research is needed to test these hypotheses and to better understand the clinical implications of grit as a source of resilience.

#### Limitations

The findings of the current study are promising, but they must be considered in light of several limitations. First, causal conclusions cannot be assumed due to the study's cross-sectional design. Longitudinal assessments within the health context are necessary to more fully ascertain the influence of grit. Generalizability of the present findings are also limited, as our sample was not very ethnically diverse. Although the heterogeneity of the diagnoses in our sample could be considered to have bolstered the generalizability of our findings across illness groups, the role of grit should still be tested among specific diagnostic populations. In particular, as our study relied on self-report measures and lacked information regarding illness severity, the current results may not generalize to clinic-based populations. Although the current study provides support for the

role of grit among young adults with chronic illnesses, the developmental trajectory of grit is not well-established, and as such, investigations of grit in younger pediatric populations is needed.

### Conclusion

Despite these limitations, the current examination broadens the understanding of the role of grit within the context of health and illness. Taken together, the findings suggest that grit is an understudied source of resilience among college students with chronic illness, and has the potential to be a target of intervention focused on aiding those who are struggling to manage a chronic illness. Future research is warranted to explore the role of grit in reducing distress and promoting well-being among pediatric illness populations.

## REFERENCES

- Allison, P. J., Guichard, C., Fung, K., & Gilain, L. (2003). Dispositional optimism predicts survival status 1 year after diagnosis in head and neck cancer patients. *Journal of Clinical Oncology : Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, 21(3), 543–8. http://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2003.10.092
- Arnett, J. J., & Jensen, J. (2000). Emerging adulthood: A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *American Psychologist*, 55(5), 469–480. http://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.5.469
- Aspinwall, L. G., & Pengchit, W. (2013). Positive psychology. In *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine* (pp. 1511–1517). New York, NY: Springer New York. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9\_612
- Aspinwall, L. G., & Tedeschi, R. G. (2010). The value of positive psychology for health psychology: Progress and pitfalls in examining the relation of positive phenomena to health. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-009-9153-0
- Barakat, L. P., & Wodka, E. L. (2006). Posttraumatic stress symptoms in college students with a chronic illness. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*,

34(8), 999–1006. http://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2006.34.8.999

- Bartone, P. T. (2007). Test-retest reliability of the dispositional resilience scale-15, a brief hardiness scale. *Psychological Reports*, 101(3), 943–944. http://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.101.3.943-944
- Berg, C. J., Rapoff, M. A., Snyder, C. R., & Belmont, J. M. (2007). The relationship of children's hope to pediatric asthma treatment adherence. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 2(3), 176–184. http://doi.org/10.1080/17439760701409629
- Bloom, J. R., Stewart, S. L., Johnston, M., & Banks, P. (1998). Intrusiveness of illness and quality of life in young women with breast cancer. *Psycho-Oncology*, 7(2), 89–100. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1611(199803/04)7:2<89::AID-PON293>3.0.CO;2-E
- Boehm, J. K., & Kubzansky, L. D. (2012). The heart's content: The association between positive psychological well-being and cardiovascular health. *Psychological Bulletin*, *138*(4), 655–691. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0027448
- Bohlmeijer, E., Prenger, R., Taal, E., & Cuijpers, P. (2010). The effects of mindfulnessbased stress reduction therapy on mental health of adults with a chronic medical disease: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 68(6), 539–544. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2009.10.005

Brandy, J. M., Penckofer, S., Solari-Twadell, P. A., & Velsor-Friedrich, B. (2015).
Factors predictive of depression in first-year college students. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, 53(2), 38–44.
http://doi.org/10.3928/02793695-20150126-03

Brougham, R. R., Zail, C. M., Mendoza, C. M., & Miller, J. R. (2009). Stress, sex

differences, and coping strategies among college students. *Current Psychology*, 28(2), 85–97. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-009-9047-0

- Butler, J., & Kern, M. L. (2016). The PERMA-Profiler: A brief multidimensional measure of flourishing. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 6(3). http://doi.org/10.5502/IJW.V6I3.526
- Carlson, L. E., Doll, R., Stephen, J., Faris, P., Tamagawa, R., Drysdale, E., & Speca, M. (2013). Randomized controlled trial of Mindfulness-based cancer recovery versus supportive expressive group therapy for distressed survivors of breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology : Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology , 31*(25), 3119–26. http://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2012.47.5210
- Carpentier, M. Y., Mullins, L. L., & Van Pelt, J. C. (2007). Psychological, academic, and work functioning in college students with childhood-onset asthma. *Journal of Asthma*, 44(2), 119–124. http://doi.org/10.1080/02770900601182418
- Carver, C. S., & Antoni, M. H. (2004). Finding benefit in breast cancer during the year after diagnosis predicts better adjustment 5 to 8 years after diagnosis. *Health Psychology*, 23(6), 595–598. http://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.23.6.595
- Casillas, J., Kahn, K. L., Doose, M., Landier, W., & Bhatia, S. (2010). Transitioning childhood cancer survivors to adult- centered healthcare : insights from parents , adolescent , and young adult survivors, 990(December 2009), 982–990.
- Chang, W. (2014). Grit and academic performance: Is being grittier better? *Open Access Dissertations*.
- Chapman, B. P., Roberts, B., & Duberstein, P. (2011). Personality and longevity:Knowns, unknowns, and implications for public health and personalized medicine.

Journal of Aging Research, 2011, 759170. http://doi.org/10.4061/2011/759170

- Chida, Y., & Steptoe, A. (2008). Positive psychological well-being and mortality: A quantitative review of prospective observational studies. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 70(7), 741–756. http://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e31818105ba
- Cohen, S., & Pressman, S. D. (2006). Positive affect and health. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *15*(3), 122–125. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.0963-7214.2006.00420.x
- Compas, B. E., Wagner, B. M., Slavin, L. A., & Vannatta, K. (1986). A prospective study of life events, social support, and psychological symptomatology during the transition from high school to college. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *14*(3), 241–257. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00911173
- Cross, T. (2014). Staying the course: Grit, academic success, and non-traditional doctoral student. *SoTL Commons Conference*.

Dancey, C. P., Hutton-Young, S. A., Moye, S., & Devins, G. M. (2002). Perceived stigma, illness intrusiveness and quality of life in men and women with irritable bowel syndrome. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 7(4), 381–395. http://doi.org/10.1080/1354850021000015203

- Datu, J. A. D., Valdez, J. P. M., & King, R. B. (2016). The successful life of gritty students: Grit leads to optimal educational and well-being outcomes in a collectivist context. In *The Psychology of Asian Learners* (pp. 503–516). Singapore: Springer Singapore. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-287-576-1\_31
- Devins, G. M. (2006). Psychologically meaningful activity, illness intrusiveness, and quality of life in rheumatic diseases. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 55(2), 172–174.

http://doi.org/10.1002/art.21854

- Devins, G. M. (2010). Using the illness intrusiveness ratings scale to understand healthrelated quality of life in chronic disease. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *68*(6), 591–602. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2009.05.006
- Devins, G. M., Dion, R., Pelletier, L. G., Shapiro, C. M., Abbey, S., Raiz, L. R., Binik,
  Y., McGowan, P., Kutner, N., Beanlands, H., & Edworthy, S. M. (2001). Structure of lifestyle disruptions in chronic disease: a confirmatory factor analysis of the Illness Intrusiveness Ratings Scale. *Medical Care*, 39(10), 1097-1104.
- Devins, G. M., Edworthy, S. M., Guthrie, N. G., & Martin, L. (1992). Illness intrusiveness in rheumatoid arthritis: differential impact on depressive symptoms over the adult lifespan. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, *19*(5), 709–15.
- Diener, E., & Chan, M. Y. (2011). Happy people live longer: Subjective well-being contributes to health and longevity. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 3(1), 1–43. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-0854.2010.01045.x
- Drotar, D. (2000). Promoting Adherence to Medical Treatment in Chronic Childhood Illness. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Duckworth, A. L., Kirby, T. A., Tsukayama, E., Berstein, H., & Ericsson, K. A. (2011).
  Deliberate practice spells success: Why grittier competitors triumph at the National Spelling Bee. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, *2*(2), 174–181.
  http://doi.org/10.1177/1948550610385872
- Duckworth, A. L., Peterson, C., Matthews, M. D., & Kelly, D. R. (2007). Grit: perseverance and passion for long-term goals. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 92(6), 1087–1101. http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.92.6.1087

- Duckworth, A. L., & Quinn, P. D. (2009). Development and validation of the Short Grit Scale (Grit–S). *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 91(2), 166–174. http://doi.org/10.1080/00223890802634290
- Duckworth, A., Steen, T. A., & Seligman, M. E. P. (2005). Positive psychology in clinical practice. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 1(1), 629–651. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.144154
- Dusselier, L., Dunn, B., Wang, Y., Shelley II, M. C., & Whalen, D. F. (2005). Personal, health, academic, and environmental predictors of stress for residence hall students. *Journal of American College Health*, 54(1), 15–24.

http://doi.org/10.3200/JACH.54.1.15-24

- Eskreis-Winkler, L., Gross, J. J., & Duckworth, A. L. (2016). Grit: Sustained self-regulation in the service of superordinate goals. Handbook of self-regulation:Research, theory and applications. New York, NY: Guilford.
- Eskreis-Winkler, L., Shulman, E. P., Beal, S. A., & Duckworth, A. L. (2014). The grit effect: predicting retention in the military, the workplace, school and marriage. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 36. http://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00036
- Fedele, D. A., Mullins, L. L., Eddington, A. R., Ryan, J. L., Junghans, A. N., &
  Hullmann, S. E. (2009). Health-related quality of life in college students with and
  without childhood-onset asthma. *Journal of Asthma*, 46(8), 835–840.
  http://doi.org/10.1080/02770900903184229
- Folkman, S. (Ed.). (2011). *The Oxford Handbook of Stress, Health, and Coping*. Oxford University Press.
- Froh, J. J. (2004). The history of positive sychology: Truth be told. NYS Psychologist,

16(3), 18-20.

- Gable, S. L., & Haidt, J. (2005). What (and why) is positive psychology? *Review of General Psychology*, 9(2), 103–110. http://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.9.2.103
- Grossman, P., Niemann, L., Schmidt, S., & Walach, H. (2004). Mindfulness-based stress reduction and health benefits: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 57(1), 35–43. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3999(03)00573-7
- Hann, D., Winter, K., & Jacobsen, P. (1999). Measurement of depressive symptoms in cancer patients: evaluation of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression
   Scale (CES-D). *Journal of psychosomatic research*, 46(5), 437-443.
- Hays, R. D., Sherbourne, C. D., & Mazel, R. M. (1993). The rand 36-item health survey 1.0. *Health Economics*, *2*(3), 217–227. http://doi.org/10.1002/hec.4730020305
- Herts, K. L., Wallis, E., & Maslow, G. (2014). College freshmen with chronic illness: A comparison with healthy first-year students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 55(5), 475–480. http://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2014.0052
- Hoff, A. L., Mullins, L. L., Chaney, J. M., Hartman, V. L., & Domek, D. (2002). Illness uncertainty, perceived control, and psychological distress among adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes. *Research and Theory for Nursing Practice*, *16*(4), 223–236. http://doi.org/10.1891/rtnp.16.4.223.53023

Howell, R. T., Kern, M. L., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2007). Health benefits: Metaanalytically determining the impact of well-being on objective health outcomes. *Health Psychology Review*, 1(1), 83–136. http://doi.org/10.1080/17437190701492486

Hullmann, S. E., Fedele, D. A., Molzon, E. S., Mayes, S., & Mullins, L. L. (2014).

Posttraumatic growth and hope in parents of children with cancer. *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, *32*(6), 696–707. http://doi.org/10.1080/07347332.2014.955241

Ickovics, J. R., Milan, S., Boland, R., Schoenbaum, E., Schuman, P., Vlahov, D., & HIV Epidemiology Research Study (HERS) Group. (2006). Psychological resources protect health: 5-year survival and immune function among HIV-infected women from four US cities. *AIDS*, 20(14), 1851–1860. http://doi.org/10.1097/01.aids.0000244204.95758.15

- Jastrowski Mano, K. E., Salamon, K., Hainsworth, K., Anderson Khan, K., Weisman, S., & Ladwig, R. (2013). A randomized, controlled pilot study of mindfulness-based stress reduction for pediatric chronic pain. *Therapies in Health and Medicine*, *19.6*(8).
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2006). Mindfulness-based interventions in context: Past, present, and future. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 10(2), 144–156. http://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bpg016
- Kelly, D. R., Matthews, M. D., & Bartone, P. T. (2014). Grit and hardiness as predictors of performance among West Point cadets. *Military Psychology*, 26(4), 327–342. http://doi.org/10.1037/mil0000050

Kleiman, E. M., Adams, L. M., Kashdan, T. B., & Riskind, J. H. (2013). Gratitude and grit indirectly reduce risk of suicidal ideations by enhancing meaning in life:
Evidence for a mediated moderation model. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 47(5), 539–546. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2013.04.007

Lansing, A. H., & Berg, C. A. (2014). Topical review: Adolescent self-regulation as a

foundation for chronic illness self-management. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *39*(10), 1091–1096. http://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsu067

- Last, B. F., Stam, H., Onland-van Nieuwenhuizen, A.-M., & Grootenhuis, M. A. (2007).
  Positive effects of a psycho-educational group intervention for children with a chronic disease: First results. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 65(1), 101–112.
  http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2006.06.017
- Lee, V., Robin Cohen, S., Edgar, L., Laizner, A. M., & Gagnon, A. J. (2006). Meaningmaking intervention during breast or colorectal cancer treatment improves selfesteem, optimism, and self-efficacy. *Social Science & Medicine*, 62(12), 3133–3145. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.11.041
- Lemanek, K. L., Kamps, J., & Chung, N. B. (2001). Empirically Supported Treatments in Pediatric Psychology: Regimen Adherence. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 26(5), 253–275. http://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/26.5.253
- Linley, P. A., Joseph, S., Harrington, S., & Wood, A. M. (2006). Positive psychology:
  Past, present, and (possible) future. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 1(1), 3–16.
  http://doi.org/10.1080/17439760500372796
- Mannix, M. M., Feldman, J. M., & Moody, K. (2009). Optimism and health-related quality of life in adolescents with cancer. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 35(4), 482–488. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2214.2008.00934.x

Maslow, A. (1954). *Motivation and Personality*. (G. Murphy, Ed.). Harper & Bros.

Mishel, M. H. (1988). Uncertainty in illness. *Image: The Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 20(4), 225–232. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.1988.tb00082.x

Mishel, M. (1981). The measurement of uncertainty in illness. Nursing Research,

*30*(5),258–263.

- Moola, F. J., Faulkner, G. E. J., White, L., & Kirsh, J. A. (2014). The psychological and social impact of camp for children with chronic illnesses: a systematic review update. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 40(5), 615–631. http://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12114
- Moskowitz, J. T., Epel, E. S., & Acree, M. (2008). Positive affect uniquely predicts lower risk of mortality in people with diabetes. *Health Psychology*, 27(1, Suppl), S73–S82. http://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.27.1.S73
- Mounts, N. S., Valentiner, D. P., Anderson, K. L., & Boswell, M. K. (2006). Shyness, sociability, and parental support for the college transition: Relation to adolescents' adjustment. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 35(1), 68–77. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-005-9002-9
- Mullins, L. L., Chaney, J. M., Balderson, B., & Hommel, K. A. (2000). The relationship of illness uncertainty, illness intrusiveness, and asthma severity to depression in young adults with Long-Standing Asthma. *International Journal of Rehabilitation* and Health, 5(3), 177–186. http://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012999205376
- Mullins, L. L., Cote, M. P., Fuemmeler, B. F., Jean, V. M., Beatty, W. W., Paul, R. H. (2001). Illness intrusiveness, uncertainty, and distress in individuals with multiple sclerosis. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 46(2), 139–153.
- Mullins, L. L., Chaney, J. M., Pace, T. M., & Hartman, V. L. (1997). Illness uncertainty, attributional style, and psychological adjustment in older adolescents and young adults with asthma. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 22(6), 871–880. http://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/22.6.871

Mullins, L. L., Wolfe-Christensen, C., Pai, A. L. H., Carpentier, M. Y., Gillaspy, S.,
Cheek, J., & Page, M. (2007). The relationship of parental overprotection, perceived child vulnerability, and parenting stress to uncertainty in youth with chronic illness. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *32*(8), 973–82.
http://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsm044

Neville, K. (1998). The relationships among uncertainty, social support, and psychological distress in adolescents recently diagnosed with cancer. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 15(1), 37–46. http://doi.org/10.1016/S1043-4542(98)90006-6

- Padesky, C. A., & Mooney, K. A. (2012). Strengths-Based Cognitive-Behavioural Therapy: A Four-Step Model to Build Resilience. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 19(4), 283–290. http://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.1795
- Pai, A. L. H., Mullins, L. L., Drotar, D., Burant, C., Wagner, J., & Chaney, J. M. (2006).
  Exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis of the child uncertainty in illness scale among children with chronic illness. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *32*(3), 288–296. http://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsl021
- Pai, A. L. H., & Schwartz, L. A. (2011). Introduction to the special section: Health care transitions of adolescents and young adults with pediatric chronic conditions. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *36*(2), 129–133. http://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsq100
- Pence, L., Valrie, C. R., Gil, K. M., Redding-Lallinger, R., & Daeschner, C. (2007).
  Optimism Predicting Daily Pain Medication Use in Adolescents with Sickle Cell
  Disease. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 33(3), 302–309.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2006.08.010

- Pennings, S. M., Law, K. C., Green, B. A., & Anestis, M. D. (2015). The impact of grit on the relationship between hopelessness and suicidality. *International Journal of Cognitive Therapy*, 8(2), 130–142. http://doi.org/10.1521/ijct.2015.8.2.130
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 1(3), 385–401. http://doi.org/10.1177/014662167700100306
- Rapoff, M. (1999). Medical nonadherence prevalence, consequences, and correlates. In Adherence to Pediatric Medical Regimens (pp. 1–21). Boston, MA: Springer US. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-585-37581-6\_1
- Rasmussen, H. N., Scheier, M. F., & Greenhouse, J. B. (2009). Optimism and physical health: A Meta-analytic review. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *37*(3), 239–256. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-009-9111-x
- Rathunde, K. (2001). Toward a Psychology of Optimal Human Functioning: What Positive Psychology Can Learn from the "Experiential Turns" of James, Dewey, and Maslow. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, *41*(1), 135–153. http://doi.org/10.1177/0022167801411008
- Reed, J., Pritschet, B. L., & Cutton, D. M. (2013). Grit, conscientiousness, and the transtheoretical model of change for exercise behavior. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *18*(5), 612–9. http://doi.org/10.1177/1359105312451866
- Robertson-Kraft, C., & Duckworth, A. L. (2014). True Grit: Trait-level Perseverance and Passion for Long-term Goals Predicts Effectiveness and Retention among Novice Teachers. *Teachers College Record (1970)*, *116*(3).

Salles, A., Cohen, G. L., Mueller, C. M., Cohen, J. S., Patten, S., Duckworth, A. L., ... Longo, W. E. (2014). The relationship between grit and resident well-being. *American Journal of Surgery*, 207(2), 251–4. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2013.09.006

Sansom-Daly, U. M., Peate, M., Wakefield, C. E., Bryant, R. A., & Cohn, R. J. (2012). A systematic review of psychological interventions for adolescents and young adults living with chronic illness. *Health Psychology : Official Journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 31(3), 380–93. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0025977

Sawyer, S. M., Afifi, R. A., Bearinger, L. H., Blakemore, S.-J., Dick, B., Ezeh, A. C., & Patton, G. C. (2012). Adolescence: a foundation for future health. *The Lancet*,

379(9826), 1630–1640. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60072-5

Scheier, M. F., Carver, C. S., & Bridges, M. W. (1994). Distinguishing optimism from neuroticism (and trait anxiety, self-mastery, and self-esteem): A reevaluation of the Life Orientation Test. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67(6), 1063– 1078. http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.67.6.1063

Schueller, S. M., & Seligman, M. E. P. (2010). Pursuit of pleasure, engagement, and meaning: Relationships to subjective and objective measures of well-being. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 5(4), 253–263.

http://doi.org/10.1080/17439761003794130

Seligman, M. (1998). Message from the President of APA. In *APA Annual Convention Program*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Seligman, M. (2011). Flourish: A Visionary New Understanding of Happiness and Well-

being. New York, NY: Free Press.

- Seligman, M. E. P. (2008). Positive health. *Applied Psychology*, *57*(s1), 3–18. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00351.x
- Seligman, M. E. P., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2014). Positive psychology: An introduction. In *Flow and the Foundations of Positive Psychology* (pp. 279–298).
  Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9088-8\_18
- Seligman, M. E. P., Rashid, T., & Parks, A. C. (2006). Positive psychotherapy. American Psychologist, 61(8), 774–788. http://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.61.8.774
- Seligman, M. E. P., Steen, T. A., Park, N., & Peterson, C. (2005). Positive psychology progress: Empirical validation of interventions. *American Psychologist*, 60(5), 410– 421. http://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.60.5.410
- Singh, K., & Jha, S. D. (2008). Positive and negative affect, and grit as predictors of happiness and life satisfaction. *Journal of the Indian Academy of Applied Psychology*, 34(2), 40–45.
- Sharkey, C.M., Bakula, D.M., Gamwell, K.L., Mullins, A.J., Chaney, J.M., Mullins, L.L. (2017) The role of grit in college student healthcare management skills and health-related quality of life. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*.
- Steele, R. G., Aylward, B. S., Jensen, C. D., & Wu, Y. P. (2009). Parent- and youthreported illness uncertainty: Associations with distress and psychosocial functioning among recipients of liver and kidney transplantations. *Children's Health Care*, 38(3), 185–199. http://doi.org/10.1080/02739610903038768
- Strayhorn, T. L. (2014). What role does grit play in the academic success of black male collegians at predominantly white institutions? *Journal of African American Studies*,

18(1), 1–10. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12111-012-9243-0

- Tackett, A. P., Cushing, C. C., Suorsa, K. I., Mullins, A. J., Gamwell, K. L., Mayes, S.,
  ... Mullins, L. L. (2016). Illness uncertainty, global psychological distress, and
  posttraumatic stress in pediatric Cencer: A preliminary examination using a path
  analysis approach. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *41*(3), 309–318.
  http://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsv093
- Taylor, & Eugene. (1996). *William James on consciousness beyond the margin*. Princeton University Press.
- Tuchman, L. K., Slap, G. B., & Britto, M. T. (2008). Transition to adult care: Experiences and expectations of adolescents with a chronic illness. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 34(5), 557–563. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2214.2008.00844.x
- Vainio, M. M., & Daukantaitė, D. (2015). Grit and different aspects of well-being: Direct and indirect relationships via sense of coherence and authenticity. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 1–29. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-015-9688-7
- Van Allen, J., Steele, R. G., Nelson, M. B., Peugh, J., Egan, A., Clements, M., & Patton,
  S. R. (2016). A longitudinal examination of hope and optimism and their role in
  Type 1 Diabetes in youths. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *41*(7), 741–749.
  http://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsv113
- Wagner, J. L., Chaney, J. M., Hommel, K. A., Page, M. C., Mullins, L. L., White, M. M., & Jarvis, J. N. (2003). The influence of parental distress on child depressive symptoms in juvenile rheumatic diseases: The moderating effect of illness intrusiveness. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 28(7), 453–462.

http://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsg036

- Willard, V. W., Long, A., & Phipps, S. (2016). Life stress versus traumatic stress: The impact of life events on psychological functioning in children with and without serious illness. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 8(1), 63–71. http://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000017
- Wodka, E. L., & Barakat, L. P. (2007). An exploratory study of the relationship of family support and coping with adjustment: Implications for college students with a chronic illness. *Journal of Adolescence*, 30(3), 365–376. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2006.04.002
- Xu, J., & Roberts, R. E. (2010). The power of positive emotions: It's a matter of life or death—Subjective well-being and longevity over 28 years in a general population.
   *Health Psychology*, 29(1), 9–19. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0016767
- Zung, W. W. (1971). A Rating Instrument for Anxiety Disorders. *Psychosomatics*, *12*(6), 371–379.

## APPENDIX A. TABLES

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics (N = 119)				
Characteristic	N(%)			
Ethnicity				
Caucasian	94 (79.0%)			
African American	4 (3.4%)			
Hispanic	4 (3.4%)			
Native American	7 (5.9%)			
Asian	3 (2.5%)			
Multi-Racial	7 (5.9%)			
Age – Mean (SD)	21.16 (5.47)			
Sex				
Female	87 (73.1%)			
Grade Level				
Freshman	50 (42.0%)			
Sophomore	30 (25.2%)			
Junior	18 (15.1%)			
Senior+	21 (17.6%)			
Chronic Illness Examples				
Asthma and Allergies	67 (56.3%)			
Gastrointestinal Disorders	23 (19.3%)			
Type 1 Diabetes	8 (6.7%)			
Other	21 (17.7%)			

Measures	Mean	SD
Grit	03.28*	00.64
CES-D	20.37 *	12.61
SAS	42.05 *	10.22
EWB	58.12*	22.63
IU	61.45	16.86
II	37.45	18.14

Table 2. Measure Average Total Scores and Standard Deviations

Note: CES-D= depressive symptoms scale, SAS = anxiety symptoms scale, EWB = emotional well-being scale, IU = illness uncertainty, II = illness intrusiveness <sup>†</sup>Above screening clinical cut-off, \*Below community mean

Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. Grit	-					
2. CES-D	29**	-				
3. SAS	28**	.80***	-			
<b>4. EWB</b>	.37***	83***	75***	-		
5. IU	28* †	.57***	.63***	53***	-	
6. II	30* *	.59***	.61***	43***	.57***	-
7. Age	.13	09	03	02	.12	03
8. Sex	.18*	.12	.27**	-1.3	.24**	.18*
9. Ethnicity	.08	.02	.05	.05	.00	06
10. Grade Level	.06	19*	03	.07	.17	.01

**Table 3. Bivariate Correlations** 

*Note: CES-D= depressive symptoms scale, SAS = anxiety symptoms scale, EWB =* emotional well-being scale, IU = illness uncertainty, II = illness intrusiveness \*p < .05, \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001\* Partial correlations are reported, controlling for demographic variables

Table 4. Structural	l Ec	quation N	Iodel	Path	Estimates
---------------------	------	-----------	-------	------	-----------

Pathway	Estimate	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
$Grit \rightarrow IU$	-0.208*	-0.404	-0.034
$Grit \rightarrow II$	-0.219*	-0.412	-0.011
$Grit \rightarrow CES-D$	-0.176**	-0.297	-0.063
$Grit \rightarrow IU \rightarrow CES-D$	-0.078*	-0.179	-0.002
$Grit \rightarrow II \rightarrow CES-D$	-0.065*	-0.148	-0.015
$Grit \rightarrow SAS$	-0.174**	-0.297	-0.045
$Grit \rightarrow IU \rightarrow SAS$	-0.084*	-0.188	-0.001
$Grit \rightarrow II \rightarrow SAS$	-0.073*	-0.161	-0.015
$Grit \rightarrow EWB$	0.297***	0.144	0.443
$Grit \rightarrow IU \rightarrow EWB$	0.076*	0.004	0.174
$Grit \rightarrow II \rightarrow EWB$	0.039*	0.003	0.110
Note. $*p < .05$ . $**p < .01$ .	***p<.001		

## APPENDIX B. FIGURES



**Figure 1.** Theoretical model for pathways through which positive phenomena affect health outcomes via Aspinwall and Pengchit (2013).



**Figure 2.** Path analysis model representing the direct and mediating effects of grit on depressive symptoms, anxious symptoms, and emotional well-being through illness uncertainty and illness intrusiveness.

*Note.* Demographic variables were controlled for in the model, but are not depicted for ease of interpretation.

#### Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board

Date: IRB Application No:	Friday, September 25, 2015 AS1385	Protocol Expires:	10/7/2016			
Proposal Title:	Examination of the Psychosocial In Students	pact of Chronic Illne	ss on College			
Reviewed and	Exempt					
Processed as:	Modification					
Status Recommended by Principal Investigator(s):	Reviewer(s) Approved					
Larry L. Mullins 116 North Murray Stillwater, OK 74078	Dana M Bakula 1249 Green Vale Court Fenton, MO 63026	Alexandra 116 N Mu Stillwater,	a Mullins Irray OK 74078			
Christina M Sharkey 4599 N Washington St Stillwater, OK 74075						

The requested modification to this IRB protocol has been approved. Please note that the original expiration date of the protocol has not changed. The IRB office MUST be notified in writing when a project is complete. All approved projects are subject to monitoring by the IRB.

The final versions of any printed recruitment, consent and assent documents bearing the IRB approval stamp are attached to this letter. These are the versions that must be used during the study.

The reviewer(s) had these comments:

Modification to 1) add Christina Sharkey and Dana Bakula as Co-PIs and remove Alayna Tackett, 2) add Grit Scale, ICQ, CPI, Stigma Scale Revised, IUS, TRAQ, 3) add the Single-Item Literacy screener, 4) add Inflammatory Celiac Disease, Epilepsy, IBD and IBS as options to chronic illness question, 5) remove scale on nicotine exposure and the Health Locus of Control, 6) utilize logic in Qualtrics to ensure that illness specific questionnaires are not given to those who state they do not have a chronic illness and 7) update the consent form

Signature :

Hugh Crethar, Chair, Institutional Review Board

Friday, September 25, 2015 Date

### VITA

## CHRISTINA MARIE SHARKEY

## Candidate for the Degree of

#### Master of Science

## Thesis: GRIT AS A PREDICTOR OF ILLNESS-RELATED DISTRESS AND PSYCHOSOCIAL OUTCOMESI N COLLEGE STUDENTS WITH A CHRONIC ILLNESS: A PATH ANALYSIS

Major Field: PSYCHOLOGY

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science/Arts in Clinical Psychology at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in July, 2017.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science/Arts in Psychology, with Honors at Georgetown University, Washington, DC in May, 2017.

Experience:

Graduate Research Assistant and Study Coordinator, Pediatric & Health Psychology Lab, Department of Psychology, Oklahoma State University Supervisor: Larry L. Mullins, Ph.D.

Pediatric Oncology Student Training Fellow, Neuropsychology Division, Children's National Health System, Washington, DC Supervisor: Kristina K. Hardy, Ph.D.

Undergraduate Research Intern, Diabetes Research Team, Children's National Health System, Washington, DC Supervisor: Randi Streisand, Ph.D., and Maureen Monaghan, Ph.D.

Professional Memberships:

Phi Kappa Phi Honor Society
Society of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology, Division 53
American Psychological Association, American Psychological Association of Graduate Students
Psychology Graduate Student Association, Oklahoma State University
Society of Pediatric Psychology, Division 54
Psi Chi International Psychology Honor Society